STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

RECEIVED

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

NOV 03 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Greenville County

James R. Barber, III, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAVARIAS G. TEAGUE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-001785

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court erred in admitting the out-of-court identifications of Appellant from a photo array where (1) the identification procedure was unduly suggestive because Appellant's eyes and weight made his photograph stand out from the others in the photo arrays and the witnesses had an opportunity to speak with each other between their purportedly separate identifications, and (2) the identifications were unreliable based on a totality of the circumstances?

- II. Whether the trial court erred in admitting the in-court identifications of Appellant where the unduly suggestive and otherwise unreliable photo array identification created a substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification?

- III. Whether the trial court erred in refusing to give the defense's requested jury instruction on identification and instead only gave its standard identification charge where identification was the sole issue at the trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 21, 2013, the Greenville County grand jury indicted Appellant Javarias G. Teague for three counts of armed robbery and three counts of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 166 (Indictments).

On August 12-13, 2014, Teague appeared before the Honorable James R. Barber, III and a jury for a trial on the above offenses. Teague was represented by Susannah Ross and the State was represented by assistant solicitors Mark Moyer and Stan Overby. R. 1.

The jury found Teague guilty on all counts of the indictments. R. 160, l. 11 – 161, l. 25. Judge Barber sentenced Teague to concurrent terms of twenty years incarceration for each of the three counts of armed robbery and five years incarceration for each of the three counts of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 163, l. 14 – 164, l. 11.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Sometime after midnight on June 23, 2012, five teenagers, Jean V., Edgar C., Angelo B.,¹ Fiorella B., and Devin T. were hanging out beside Jean's home. Edgar was sitting in the driver's seat of his vehicle with the door open, Jean and Angelo were standing on the sidewalk, and Fiorella and Devin were sitting on the sidewalk. R. 65, ll. 17-22; R. 85, l. 7 – 86, l. 17; R. 93, ll. 2-19. A tan Nissan Maxima passed by several times and eventually stopped. Two black males with guns got out of the vehicle and approached the group. R. 94, l. 2 – 95, l. 10; R. 132, ll. 24-25. They took Edgar's work pants and wallet that were sitting in the passenger seat of his car, Angelo's iPhone, and Jean's keys. R. 97, l. 2-3; R. 104, l. 14 – 105, l. 6; R. 115, ll. 20-24; R. 133, ll. 16-20. On the night of the incident, the assailants were described as two black males, one with dreadlocks and wearing a green polo shirt and the other bald and wearing a red shirt. 133, l. 23 – 134, l. 2. The **only** evidence connecting Teague with the crime is his alleged identification by two of the witnesses, Angelo and Fiorella, from photo arrays shown to them two days after the incident.

Neil v. Biggers Hearing

The trial court conducted a Neil v. Biggers² hearing at the beginning of the case. The State presented testimony from Sergeant Tim Conroy, who conducted the identifications, and testimony of siblings Angelo and Fiorella B. The defense presented expert testimony from Dawn McQuiston.

¹ Angelo B. is also referred to as Antonio B. several times in the transcript. For ease of reference, he is referred to only as "Angelo" in Appellant's brief.

² 409 U.S. 188, 93 S.Ct. 375 (1972).

Based on a tip from a confidential informant and their suspected involvement in another matter, Conroy initially prepared photo arrays containing photographs of Appellant Teague and Survaggio Jones. R. 22, l. 10 – 24, l. 20; See State's Ex. 1, photo array shown to Fiorella B., on file with this court; State's Ex. 2, photo array shown to Angelo B., on file with this court; State's Ex. 3, photo array of Jones, on file with this court. Conroy testified that on July 25, 2012, two days after the incident, he went to the home of Angelo and Fiorella at approximately 11:00 a.m. R. 11, ll. 7-24. Prior to arriving that day, Conroy spoke with Angelo and asked him if he would be willing to look at a line-up of suspects. R. 23, l. 19 – 24, l. 4. Conroy did not take any notes at the home and did not audio or video record the meetings. Though he claimed to provide instructions to the witnesses prior to showing them the photo arrays, he did not use a card or written instruction sheet. R. 11, l. 25 – 13, l. 5; R. 21, l. 14 – 22, l. 9. Not surprisingly, Conroy testified that he did not make any suggestion as to who Angelo or Fiorella should pick from the photo array or otherwise influence their decisions. R. 13, ll. 9-13; R. 19, ll. 4-11.

Angelo's mother woke him up and he went downstairs, where Conroy "explained to him [that he] just wanted to show him a photo lineup." Conroy purportedly advised Angelo that he "was going to show him six pictures who had the same characteristics in the pictures, and to look at the facial features because the hair may have changed." R. 12, ll. 6-9. Angelo selected Teague from the line-up. Conroy testified that Angelo said he was a hundred percent certain that the person he selected robbed him. R. 13, l. 15 – 15, l. 9. However, on cross-examination, Conroy admitted that his report written after the identification procedure did not include that Angelo was "a hundred percent certain."

Conroy clarified that Angelo was "positive" and said that he would not have signed the warrant otherwise. R. 26, l. 18 – 27, l. 3. He also admitted that Angelo indicated in his statement on that night of the incident that he was confronted by the assailant wearing a red shirt and braids. Angelo described the other individual as being bald and heavy set. R. 24, l. 21 – 25, l. 23.

According to Conroy, as Angelo was returning to the upstairs of the house, Conroy asked the mother if Fiorella would come talk to him downstairs. R. 16, l. 24 – 17, l. 7. Angelo was upstairs during Conroy's meeting with Fiorella. Conroy did not believe that Fiorella was aware that Angelo had picked someone out of the photo array when she came down. The line-up that he showed Fiorella had Teague's picture in the sixth position rather than the second position. R. 17, l. 8 – 18, l. 12; R. 27, ll. 18-21. Conroy testified that he "did the same thing as with [Angelo]." He told Fiorella that he "was going to show her six photos, all of the same race, same approximate age, same facial hair, same hairstyle, and [] told her not to feel obligated to pick somebody out; that he may or may not be there." R. 18, ll. 13-19. Fiorella said "number six is the person that robbed them." R. 18, ll. 21-23. Conroy testified that she "had confidence like she was a hundred percent certain." R. 18, l. 24 – 19, l. 3. However, he admitted on cross-examination that he was not aware of Fiorella giving any description of either of the assailants after the incident. R. 27, ll. 15-17.

Conroy also showed Angelo and Fiorella photo arrays with the co-defendant, Survaggio Jones, during his respective meetings with each of them. Neither of them recognized anyone in that photo array as the person who committed the robbery. R. 15, l. 16 – 16, l. 23; R. 19, ll. 16-25. He later showed two photo array line-ups to Jean V. Jean

was unable to pick anyone out of either line-up because it was dark and he did not get a good look at the robbers. R. 20, ll. 1-12. On the night of the incident, he described the assailant who pointed a gun at him as a bald person in a green shirt. R. 26, ll. 10-17.

On September 14, 2012,³ Conroy met with Angelo a second time and showed him a line-up with a third suspect, Ashley Roper. Angelo picked Roper out as someone “that looks like one of them” but did not display the same level of confidence according to Conroy. R. 20, l. 13 – 21, l. 10; See State’s Ex. 5, photo array of Roper, on file with this court.

Angelo testified that it was dark but that there was a street light that provided enough light for him to see the face of one of the assailants. R. 31, ll. 9-13; R. 32, l. 13 – 33, l. 4. At the hearing, he described one of them as thinner with dreadlocks and the other as bigger and with no hair. He then clarified that when he wrote “bald” in his prior statement, and apparently when he said “the one with no hair” just seconds before at the hearing, that he meant “just a little hair” or a “low-cut haircut.” R. 33, l. 5 – 34, l. 2. He said that he was very close to the “bald” man and got “a good enough look” to identify him later. R. 34, l. 3 – 35, l. 1. He claimed that he was “not quite sure” about the other person because he was not in contact with him, but admitted that was not what he indicated on the night of the incident. Defense counsel confronted Angelo with the statement that he signed, in which he described one of the assailants as a skinny black

³ The testimony during the Neil v. Biggers hearing was that the second meeting with Angelo took place on July 14, 2012; however, the testimony at trial and the notation on State’s Exhibit 5 indicate that the meeting actually took place on September 14, 2012. R. 20, ll. 13-19; R. 124, l. 9 – 125, l. 24; State’s Ex. 5, photo array of Roper, on file with this court. Additionally, the robbery took place after midnight on July 23, 2012, making it impossible for the line-up to have occurred on July 14, 2012. R. 138, ll. 17-21.

male wearing a red shirt, six foot, dark complexion, with dreads, and the other as a heavy-set black male wearing black shorts, bald, and wearing a greenish polo shirt. In his statement, Angelo said "they walked up to me and the skinny male pointed a gun at me and the heavysset male pointed a gun at Jean." Angelo contended that the officer must have written it down wrong, despite his own signature at the bottom of the statement. R. 37, l. 10 – 38, l. 7.

With respect to the photo array, Angelo said that he was very confident of his selection and that he "could tell by the eyes." R. 35, l. 6 – 36, l. 1. However, his initial description did not contain anything about the assailant's eyes. R. 40, ll. 4-6. Angelo stated that he did not know where Fiorella was while he looked at the photo array. He also said that he did not have any conversation with her after he looked at the photo array. R. 30, ll. 9-20. Angelo also claimed that between the time of the incident and Conroy's arrival on June 24, 2012, he and Fiorella did not talk about what the assailants looked like, though they did discuss the incident itself. R. 39, l. 17 – 40, l. 3.

Fiorella did not give a description of two assailants on the night of the incident other than that they were two black men. R. 48, l. 21 – 49, l. 6. When asked what she remembered about the assailants from the night of the incident at the hearing, Fiorella's testimony was awash with inconsistency. She initially described herself as being about a foot away from her brother and his assailant, but then changed that to approximately six feet. When asked what she remembered about what the two men looked like, she testified that she "just remember[ed] the dark skin and one had long dreads" and that the other had "[a] short haircut." When asked if she was "able to get a good look at either one of them to be able to identify them," Fiorella responded that she "only remember[ed]

the hair.” However, she later said that she “got a good look at his eyes” when he was going through her brother’s pants. She admitted that she was looking down for the majority of the incident but testified that the person’s face was illuminated “a little bit” by the street light. Despite all of this, Fiorella claimed that she got “a good enough look at him to identify him later.” R. 44, l. 16 – 46, l. 7.

Fiorella testified that she was sleeping up until just before she was shown the photo array, when her brother came and woke her. She claimed that her brother gave her no indication of why the officer was there and that she proceeded downstairs. R. 41, l. 17 – 42, l. 16. She said that she was “very confident” in who she selected from the photo array. R. 46, l. 8 – 48, l. 7. She initially claimed that she and her brother had not discussed the incident at all, but then clarified that they “didn’t discuss the men or nothing.” R. 49, ll. 7-14.

Defense counsel then presented an expert witness in the areas of memory and eye-witness identification, Dawn McQuiston. R. 50, l. 5 – 54, l. 5. Dr. McQuiston testified that the photo array containing Teague could have been less suggestive. As prepared, Teague’s picture stood out from the rest because he appears to have blinked or have heavy-set eyes and he appears to weigh more than the others in the array. This may have resulted in drawing the witnesses’ attention to his photograph. R. 54, l. 7 – 57, l. 11. The witnesses’ confidence level was questionable in this case and their perception may have been affected by the lighting, use of a weapon, and fear. It also raised concerns that they gave very little information at the time of the incident, but later presented a lot of certainty with respect to their identifications. R. 57, l. 12 – 59, l. 3. She further noted that the witnesses both stated that they recognized Teague in the photo array based on his

eyes, yet neither of them mentioned anything distinctive about his eyes on the night of the incident. R. 59, ll. 4-15.

Ultimately, the trial court determined that the defense failed to meet its burden of proving that the identification procedure was impermissibly suggestive. He found that both of the witnesses “had an opportunity to observe the people in that regard at the scene and they were paying close attention because the witnesses were very close to them.” While noting that one of the witnesses did not give any prior description, he found that the other witness “gave some description, including close haircut” Further, he found that they both testified as to their certainty of the identification and that the identification was made within a very short period of time from the incident. R. 61, l. 15 – 62, l. 9.

Testimony at Trial

Defense counsel renewed her objection to the admissibility of the photo array identifications during the trial. She also objected to the in-court identifications of Teague by Angelo and Fiorella. Her objections were overruled. R. 74, l. 5 – 77, l. 15; R. 79, l. 12 – 80, l. 6; R. 126, ll. 6 – 127, l. 7. The judge made clear that his ruling on the admissibility of the testimony regarding the identifications was final by instructing the jury, prior to the resumption of testimony by the State’s first witness, that “the determination of whether the identification is a proper identification falls within your purview and it is in your responsibility. I will charge you that you are to determine whether there was a proper identification made by this witness.” R. 77, l. 18 – 78, l. 1; see State v. Bowman, 366 S.C. 485, 500–01, 623 S.E.2d 378, 386 (2005) (noting an exception to the rule requiring a contemporaneous objection when evidence is introduced exists where a judge makes an *in limine* ruling on the admission of evidence on the record

immediately prior to the introduction of the evidence in question); State v. Wiles, 383 S.C. 151, 156-57, 679 S.E.2d 172, 175 (2009) (finding that despite the fact that the evidence was not immediately introduced after the motion *in limine*, the trial judge indicated, by his actions, that his ruling was a final, rather than preliminary).

Devin, Jean, and Edgar all admitted that they did not get a good look at the assailants. Devin saw two black males approaching them with guns, but held her hands over her face for the remainder of the incident. R. 87, l. 7 – 88, l. 24; R. 89, l. 18 – 90, l. 7. Jean testified that he remembered that “one had short hair and the other one had dreadlocks” but did not see their faces because he was trying to hide his belongings in his pockets. R. 95, ll. 20-23. On direct, he said that the one with dreadlocks was wearing a red shirt, but on cross-examination he said that he could not remember whether the one with the red shirt was the one with the long braids. R. 97, ll. 8-17; R. 99, ll. 15-22. He was shown a photo array, but was unable to identify anyone with certainty. R. 98, ll. 6-17. Edgar testified that he did not look at the person who pointed a gun at him. He did not see the color of the assailants’ shirts or their height, weight, or hairstyles. R. 103, l. 17 – 104, l. 12; R. 105, l. 19 – 106, l. 3; R. 108, ll. 15-22.

In his testimony before the jury, Angelo again said that he and his friends were approached by two men, both of whom had guns. He described one as skinny with dreads, a red shirt, and a baseball cap, and the other as heavier and with a very short haircut. When asked what the second person was wearing, Angelo said “like a shirt but I was looking at the gun.” He again clarified that his earlier description of the assailant as bald meant “just a little hair.” Angelo said that the heavier guy took his cell phone from him when it rang and that he “just glanced” at the man when he came up to him. Even

so, he claimed that he got "a good look" at the man's face as he was approaching from across the street. R. 110, l. 24 – 115, l. 19. Angelo testified that he saw the other person's hair and clothes, but not his face. R. 116, l. 24 – 117, l. 3. But, he admitted that the incident occurred after midnight and "all happened pretty fast." R. 129, ll. 18-20. He also said that his prior written statement was incorrect in stating that it was the skinny male who was close to him, and that it was actually the heavy-set person. R. 118, ll. 11-18; R. 127, l. 23 – 129, l. 6. However, Officer Lane, who took Angelo's statement, wrote what was told to him by Angelo on the night of the incident. R. 135, l. 23 – 136, l. 9.

According to Angelo, when he was shown the photo array on July 25, 2012, his sister was sleeping. In contrast, at the pre-trial hearing he was unsure where she was. He said that he looked at all six photographs and was positive that the person he picked was the one who robbed him. R. 118, l. 19 – R. 123, l. 10. He agreed that the person he selected was the heaviest looking of all of the people who were in the line-up. R. 127, ll. 11-14. He said that he did not pick anyone out of the second line-up that he was shown because "[t]he hair wasn't long enough." R. 123, l. 11 – 124, l. 8. Over defense counsel's objection, Angelo made an in-court identification of Teague, "the defendant... in the white shirt at [the defense] table," as the person who robbed him. R. 126, l. 6 – 127, l. 7.

Fiorella testified that the entire incident lasted less than three minutes and that she was approximately six feet away from the assailants. She was looking down, but "glanced up" "real quick" and allegedly saw the face of the assailants. Even so, she claimed to see him clearly. R. 67, l. 12 – 69, l. 2. She also claimed to have seen that one

of the men had “real low hair and one had dreads.” R. 78, ll. 4-11. However, on cross-examination, Fiorella admitted that on the night of the incident the only description she gave was that “an African-American walking near a white car pulled out a gun; said give me your money.” R. 80, ll. 16-25. While Fiorella admitted that she and her brother discussed the incident after it occurred, she maintained that they did not discuss who did it. But, she later said that they talked about how it happened and if they saw anything. R. 81, l. 22 – 82, l. 24. She also admitted that if she had gotten a good look at the person who did it, she would have talked to her brother about it. R. 83, ll. 8-11.

Regarding the photo array shown to her two days after the incident, Fiorella testified that Conroy told her that he had already met with Angelo, but that she did not have any conversation with Angelo about his meeting with Conroy. She said that Conroy did not give her any instructions on how to use the photo lineup. She claimed that she saw “the person from that night in the line-up” and that she was very confident. R. 69, l. 14 – 74, l. 4. Over defense counsel’s objection, Fiorella made an in-court identification of Teague, “the Defendant” “in the white shirt” “sitting by counsel.” R. 79, l. 7 – 80, l. 6.

Officer Charles Lane and Sergeant Tim Conroy also testified during the trial. They confirmed that the Nissan Maxima was never connected to Teague, that the iPhone was unable to be tracked, and that none of the stolen property was recovered. R. 135, ll. 11-14; R. 139, l. 15 – 140, l. 3; R. 153, ll. 1-5. Thus, the only evidence connecting Teague to the armed robberies was the alleged identifications by Angelo and Fiorella.

Sergeant Conroy testified at trial that he contacted Angelo and asked him if he would be able to identify the individual who robbed him if he were to develop a person of interest. Angelo said that “he thought he would be able to more than likely if the person

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