ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County
The Honorable James R. Barber, III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-001785

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JAVARIUS G. TEAGUE,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SUSANNAH R. COLE
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

W. WALTER WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 E. North St.
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8647

RECEIVED

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT OCT 20 2015

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

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

ARGUMENT

I

The trial judge properly admitted the police lineup because the lineup was not suggestive, and the witnesses' identification was reliable under the totality of the circumstances.

Appellant argues the teenagers' out of court identification of him was unreliable and should have been suppressed. The identification, made from a photographic lineup of six people, was not unduly suggestive because the six men in the photos have similar characteristics of Appellant, even though each man has minor facial distinctions. Further, the investigating officer used his standard protocol for conducting the lineup to prevent any undue influence. Under the totality of the circumstances, the identification was proper, and the trial court committed no error in its admission.

"Generally, the decision to admit an eyewitness identification is at the trial judge's discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of such, or the commission of prejudicial legal error." State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282, 288, 540 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2000). A trial court abuses its power of discretion when it commits an error of law or when there has been a factual conclusion without any evidentiary support. State v. Price, 368 S.C. 494, 498, 629 S.E.2d 363, 365 (2006). In the instant case, the conclusions are supported by evidence.

A criminal defendant may be deprived of due process by an identification procedure that is unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification. Stovall v. Denno, 388 U.S. 293, 302 (1967) *overruled on other grounds by* Griffith v. Kentucky, 479 U.S. 314 (1987). The in-court identification of the accused becomes inadmissible if a suggestive out-of-court identification procedure created a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification. Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188

(1972); Moore, 343 S.C. at 290, 540 S.E. 2d at 449.

The courts use a two prong analysis to determine the admissibility of the out-of-court identification. The test is: 1) whether the identification process was unduly suggestive; and 2) whether the identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed. Biggers 409 U.S. at 198; Moore, 343 S.C. at 287, 540 S.E.2d at 447. Courts employing the test should consider the totality of circumstances. Biggers, 409 U.S. at 199.

Appellant complains the photographic lineup was suggestive because, he contends, he appears larger than the other individuals in the lineup and his eyes appear slightly closed, indicating the different facial characteristics made his photo stand out from the five others. Viewing the exhibit, the individuals have the appearance of being roughly similar in size. The lineup shows the photos of six men, with each image cropped at the area just below the men's chins. Only a small portion of their necks, just on either side of their chins is visible. Appellant's height and weight are not indicated on the form, and his size is not clear from the photograph. Indeed, the facial shapes of most of the other individuals are similar, but not exact. Appellant's size does not stand out from the others in such a way as to render the lineup unduly suggestive.

Appellant's eyes, though distinctive, are not so unusual as to draw attention to his photo, to the exclusion of the others. All six men have differently shaped eyes. In State's Exhibit 2, the man in the fourth position appears to have deep set eyes, and his chin is tilted downward slightly. The man in position five has lighter colored eyes, which gives him a distinctive look from the others. Moreover, the man in position six has his head tilted slightly to one side, and the man in position one has a narrower face than the others. Small differences exist between Appellant and the other men, but the men remain similar

in their overall appearance. The exhibit does not support Appellant's argument the lineup was unduly suggestive. See State v. Simmons, 384 S.C. 145, 168, 682 S.E.2d 19, 31 (Ct. App. 2009) (finding "[d]espite Simmons's contention that his ears were smaller than those of the other individuals in the line-up, his photograph does not stand out in such a way as to render the line-up unduly suggestive").

The North Carolina Supreme Court rendered a holding which readily applies to the instant case:

Although there is some disparity in age, height and weight of the lineup participants, these differences do not render the identification procedures so 'unnecessarily suggestive and conducive to irreparable mistaken identification' as to constitute a denial of due process. The State is not required to produce lineup subjects who are in all respects identical to the suspect. If such were the rule, no lineup would be valid because no two men are alike. Here, the lineup subjects approximated the general physical description given by the victim; and defendant was not rendered conspicuous by police procedures. The mere fact that defendant had specific identifying characteristics not shared by the other participants does not invalidate the lineup.

State v. Gaines, 194 S.E.2d 839, 844 (N.C. 1973). Courts must consider the totality of circumstances and consider the following factors in deciding the likelihood of misidentification:

- 1) the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime; 2) the witness's degree of attention; 3) the accuracy of the witness's prior description of the criminal; 4) the level of certainty demonstrated at the confrontation; and 5) the time between the crime and the confrontation.

State v. Washington, 323 S.C. 106, 473 S.E.2d 479, 481 (Ct. App. 1996).

A trial judge should only exclude identification evidence if there is "a very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification." Perry v. New Hampshire, __

U.S. ___, 132 S. Ct. 716, 720 (2012) (citation omitted). Indeed, the exclusion of evidence is a “drastic sanction” and should be “limited to identification testimony which is manifestly suspect.” Harker v. Maryland, 800 F.2d 437, 443 (4th Cir. 1983). The decision to admit an eyewitness identification is within the trial judge's discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion or the commission of prejudicial legal error. State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282, 288, 540 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2000).

Following the Neil v. Biggers hearing, the trial court judge made these findings:

I find the witnesses' opportunity—both of them said that they had an opportunity to observe the people in that regard at the scene and they were paying close attention because the witnesses were very close to them.

While there was no prior description as to one, the other one gave some description, including close haircut, and both testified as to the certainty of the identification and within a very short period of time from the time of the incident.

I find the lineups were not impermissibly suggestive, but, of course, the jury is ultimately going to make that determination.

(R. p. 61, line 20 – p. 62, line 7.)

The court properly found the teenagers' identification of Appellant reliable in light of the totality of the circumstances surrounding the confrontation. First, the record reflected Angelo and Fiorella had ample opportunity to view Appellant when he approached Angelo to take his phone and go through his pockets. During this time, at least two streetlights illuminated Appellant's face. Angelo was able to pay particularly close attention to Appellant because he was rummaging through his pants and holding a gun directly on him. A person in fear of his life presumably has a more acute degree of attention to his surroundings than a mere passerby. See State v. Ford, 278 S.C. 384, 296 S.E.2d 866 (1982); State v. Brown, 333 S.C. 185, 508 S.E.2d 38 (Ct.App.1998); State v.

Johnson, 318 S.C. 372, 458 S.E.2d 49 (Ct.App.1995).

Although Angelo's description of the two men was not very detailed, it was consistent with their appearance. Later, when they were shown the photographic lineup, Angelo and Fiorella chose Appellant's photograph without hesitation. Appellant's own expert testified, "people can be off in their descriptions and still be accurate in their recognition." (R. p. 58, lines 14-15.) To borrow a phrase from Justice Stewart, the witness may not be able to define accurately the specific characteristics of the perpetrator's appearance, but he may know it when he sees it. Jacobellis v. Ohio, 378 U.S. 184, 197 (1964) ("I shall not attempt today to further define the kinds of material I understand to be embraced within that shorthand description; and perhaps I could never succeed in intelligently doing so. But I know it when I see it, and the motion picture involved in this case is not that.") Both Angelo and Fiorella were absolutely certain of their identification of Appellant when they saw his photo in the lineup.

Finally, the identification took place only two days after the burglary. Our Supreme Court has on at least three occasions found reliable out-of-court identifications made after greater lapses of time. See State v. Stewart, 275 S.C. 447, 272 S.E.2d 628 (1980) (photo identification fifteen days later); State v. Gambrell, 274 S.C. 587, 266 S.E.2d 78 (1980) (photo identification less than two weeks later); State v. Patterson, 337 S.C. 215, 230-31, 522 S.E.2d 845, 853 (Ct. App. 1999) (photo identification two weeks later).

Appellant argues Detective Conroy improperly constructed the photo lineup and undermined the objectivity of the witnesses, but offers no evidence to support this claim, other than Conroy's providing more detail of his instructions to Angelo during the case in chief than in the Neil v. Biggers hearing. Appellant broadly claims Angelo and Fiorella

did not have sufficient opportunity to view the culprit because the lighting was not bright enough, despite their testimony otherwise. Appellant also argues because they were scared, they could not have focused on the robber's face. "The only logical explanation ... is that they made their selection based on his weight and that they spoke after the incident, influencing each other's memories." (Appellant's Brief, p. 17.) No evidence supports this assertion. Perhaps a more logical explanation for their selection of Appellant is because they recognized him as the man who robbed them.

Further supporting their identification as honest and reliable is their failure to identify a second suspect, despite two lineups presented by Detective Conroy. Because the teenagers were not inclined to choose a man without confidence, no other suspect was identified. Logic implies if Angelo and Fiorella were deluding themselves into selecting an innocent man from a lineup, they would delude themselves a second time. Similarly, if Conroy were suggestive of Appellant in his lineup, he would have been suggestive in his second. Because the teenagers did not choose a second suspect, their choice of Appellant has a greater indication of reliability.

In sum, Appellant's photograph was chosen with ease from a set of six photographs by Angelo and Fiorella because Appellant came closest to them in a well-lit area, and they were able to see his face. To suggest improper police procedure without any evidence to support it is disingenuous on Appellant's part. The police lineup was not suggestive, the identification was reliable, and the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the in court identification. Appellant is not entitled to a new trial on this ground.

II.

Because the witnesses' out of court identification was reliable and not unduly suggestive, the in court identification of Appellant was properly admissible.

To determine the admissibility of an identification, the court must determine (1) whether the identification process was unduly suggestive and (2) if so, whether the out-of-court identification was nevertheless so reliable that no substantial likelihood of misidentification existed. State v. Cheeseboro, 346 S.C. 526, 540, 552 S.E.2d 300, 307-08 (2001); Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188, 93 S.Ct. 375, 34 L.Ed.2d 401 (1972); State v. Moore, 343 S.C. 282, 540 S.E.2d 445 (2000). As thoroughly discussed in Section I, the photo lineup was neither unduly suggestive nor unreliable. Thus, Appellant has no basis for the claim the in court identification was inadmissible.

With this argument, Appellant's claim that the in-court identification was inadmissible necessarily turns on the admissibility of the out-of-court identification. Appellant continues to offer speculation, not evidence, on how the lineup might have been impermissible by pointing to differences in witness testimonies and opportunities for witness collaboration. Appellant cannot show inclination to influence each other's choices from the evidence at trial, nor can Appellant explain why the witnesses would misidentify one suspect but not another.

Nevertheless, Appellant cites several areas of testimony in support of his claim. First, the identification procedure used by Conroy was not improper or unduly suggestive. Conroy may have informed Angelo he would see a lineup if Conroy were to develop a person of interest, but Conroy did not tell Angelo the person of interest was definitely in the photo lineup presented. (R. p. 12, lines 24-25.) Even if Angelo assumed the suspect was in the lineup, nothing about Conroy's presentation of the lineup

suggested Angelo look more carefully at Appellant's photo in particular. (R. p. 12, line 6 – p. 14, line 6.)

Next, Conroy's testimony concerning his instructions to Angelo and Fiorella was not inconsistent. During the case-in-chief, Conroy provided more details about his instructions to Angelo, but he did not contradict his testimony in the Neil v. Biggers hearing. (R. p. 146, lines 9-15.) Angelo and Fiorella may not have been able to recall Conroy's instructions, but that failure to remember does not imply misconduct on Conroy's part. The teenagers simply did not remember Conroy's instructions "word for word," but they felt no pressure to choose one individual in particular, or at all. (R. p. 29, line 16-25.)

Although the teenagers may have had an opportunity to talk in passing between their viewings of the photo lineup, Appellant presented no evidence they discussed the lineup. In fact, when questioned about their exchange, Angelo testified he did not talk to his sister about his identification. (R. p. 30, lines 13-20.) Fiorella similarly testified Angelo did not tell her why the officer was at their house, nor did he tell her she would be shown pictures, or he had already chosen someone. (R. p. 42, lines 7-14.) Moreover, though trial counsel did not ask Conroy why he went to the witness's home to conduct the lineup, presumably he preferred the teenagers to be comfortable and not intimidated by police questioning.

Appellant states, "Conroy also testified that he told Angelo that he changed the order of the photographs. ... This undermined any potential benefit from the reordering by putting Angelo on notice that if he were to give his sister any tip on who to select, it should be based on something other than the placement of the photograph." (Appellant's Brief, p. 27.) This statement presupposes a scheme on the witnesses' part to convict an

innocent man, when there is simply no evidence this was the case. Clearly the siblings were not determined to choose the identity of their robber, regardless of the truth, because both Angelo and Fiorella refused to identify the second suspect. (R. p. 36, lines 1-24 and p. 47, lines 8-18.) It defies logic to suggest the two schemed for one suspect, but not the other.

The testimonies of Angelo and Fiorella were credible because they could see Appellant's face from the light of the streetlamp. In addition, Appellant came so physically close as to touch Angelo and go through his pockets. The teenagers were outside talking and listening to music within the same environment. When the Appellant entered the area in which they were standing and sitting on the ground, they could see him as well as they could see each other. Though the teenagers noticed the weapon Appellant carried with him, Fiorella and Angelo both testified they had the opportunity to see his face. (R. p. 32, line 10 and p. 35, line 1; p. 4, lines 10-15 and p. 45, lines 8-9.) Their attention to the gun was not exclusive of their ability to see Appellant.

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